Ways to Follow a Guru

Dr. Yutang Lin

(Chenian Memorial Series No. 24)

a gift from

Dharma Friends of Dr. Lin

Contents

Blessed Ones are Few	1
The Way to Follow a Guru	2
Learning through Attendance	4
Indicating	6
Guru as Buddha	7
Teachable	8
Voluntary Refuge	10
Realizing Guru's Grace	
Refuge in Guru	
Always Complying	13
Switching Master and Attendant	
Reverently Following Guru's Instructions	17
The Nine Attitudes of Devotion to Guru	
Taking Refuge in Bodhicitta	
After Having Taken Refuge	

Blessed Ones are Few

Addressing as "Guru" is easy but listening to is hard:

One statement unacceptable would lead to disappearance.

Serving with diligence and learning constantly in attendance,

Only then could be blessed with Grace to turn into a dragon.

Comments:

After having practiced Tantra for years, one is often conveniently called by worldly people as "Guru." However, advices given are mostly hard to be accepted. Often one word disagreeable would lead to disappearance forever. In fact, a real practitioner of Tantra should serve and learn from a virtuous Guru by constant attendance. Only then could it be possible for the student to receive the blessings of the lineage as transmitted through the Guru, and to understand thoroughly the fine instructions in details. Thereby it could be expected that realization of attainment will be achieved to help salvage sentient beings.

Written in Chinese: September 24, 1998

Translated: August 21, 1999

El Cerrito, California

The Way to Follow a Guru

Hard enough to know how to choose a Guru, Not to mention being turned off by a sour one. Be truthful to Bodhicitta and practice solidly, Approach gradually with eyes open, and dedicate oneself to the Dharma!

Comment:

From afar a Buddhist came to visit. He asked me to write about how to choose a Guru because many are puzzled as to how to do it, and many had been turned off by sour ones that they remain skeptical to spiritual quests and Gurus. Progress on the Buddhist path is mainly based on Bodhicitta, the aspiration to enable all sentient beings to attain ultimate enlightenment. Following a Guru who is

an experienced and realized practitioner one would gain protection and guidance on the Therefore, a practitioner should, first of all, reflect on Bodhicitta to ensure that it is genuine. As long as one's Bodhicitta is genuine, any situation would become an opportunity to help grow and mature, and even in case one had been misled or cheated by evil teachers, there is fault on no Furthermore, practitioner's conscience. should diligently practice basic practitioner training such as chanting the name of a Buddha or Bodhisattva, repeating mantras, making prostration Buddhas, the foundational practices Vajrayana, etc., instead of being anxious to obtain high or wondrous teachings, or hustling to visit initiation gatherings. When and centers foundational practices are solidly developed, the opportune time would come for the practitioner to have inspirations indicating who to follow as one's Guru. When one approaches a potential teacher, there is no need to rush into deep relationship. One should let the relationship develop naturally over time, and then there will be opportunity to observe and reflect on whether this relationship is really beneficial for growth and progress on the Dharma path. As to how to take genuine refuge in a Guru it requires a disciple to have renounced worldly

engagements and devoted fully to Dharma practices and services to comprehend the suitable way. No one can teach this through words. The usual so-called "taking refuge in a Guru" is no more than associating with a senior Dharma friend.

Written in Chinese on April 18, 2000 Translated on April 19, 2000 El Cerrito, California

Learning through Attendance

Realization of Dharma permeates daily life; Behavior and conversation remain just ordinary. Attending the Guru to learn eventually the subtleties, Refined transformation would emerge unnoticeably.

Comments:

Learning and practicing the Dharma would eventually become one with the daily life. This is due to the fact that the goal of the Buddhist teachings is to emancipate sentient beings from the cage of their mentality and views so that they would return to original purity and become able to lively develop their full potentials. Depending only on words or occasional contacts it would be difficult to gain real understanding of the essence of the Dharma; sometimes such approaches would even lead to further confusion in thoughts. Therefore, in order to gain real benefits from an experienced practitioner one should remain in constant attendance for a long period of time. In this way many situations and questions would arise naturally in daily life, and the student would have a chance to observe and learn the responses and answers. Through years of such on-hand learning and diligent practice and service the student would be transformed into a Dharma instrument.

As to the question of whether one could follow only one Guru, and the question of whether a teacher could restrict students to learn only approved material, if the restrictions are meant for only a certain period to improve concentration of study, then such temporary regulations are understandable. From the standpoint of perpetual and universal cultivation toward liberation, any restriction is a kind of grasping. The goal of a

practitioner is ultimate liberation from transmigration in life-and-death. As long as it is beneficial to advancement toward this goal, one should try to learn from all possible sources, never regress until full enlightenment.

Written in Chinese and translated on July 16, 2000 El Cerrito, California

Indicating

Only humble attitude could benefit from guidance; Empty the mind in order to contain Dharma nectar. Learned indications revealed at opportune juncture; One poke brings to life the freedom to turn around.

Comment:

Appropriate teachings need to wait for mature opportunities. The student has become humble, only then could indications be given. Pointing exactly at the blind spot of grasping could save the novice from groping in the dark.

Written in Chinese on December 20, 2001 Translated on January 11, 2002 El Cerrito, California

Guru as Buddha

Regarding Guru as no different from Buddha, In original oneness all distinctions fade away. Mind without grasping accepts things as such, Spreading Dharma to help all without waning.

Comment:

In Tantric Buddhism it is taught that one should regard one's Guru as no different from Buddha. Without proper understanding of the reasons behind such teachings it would be both very difficult to have faith in it and easy to raise the suspicion that it is a pretentious make-believe only. According to Buddhist teachings all are originally in oneness. Once original purity is attained, there is not even any distinction between Buddhas and

sentient beings, not to mention any differentiation of Buddhas and Gurus. Gurus with real attainment are free from grasping and attachment, and thereby merge into the Dharmakaya of Tathagata. Their propagation of the Dharma to benefit sentient beings is an extension and continuation of the boundless wondrous display of the functions of Buddha's Dharmakaya. Thus, as longs as we are not under the mistaken impression that Buddha could be defined or limited, it would be easy for us to comprehend the teaching to recognize Gurus as Buddhas as a wondrous way to transcend worldly views and appreciate the virtues and grace of Gurus.

Written in Chinese and translated on March 2, 2003 El Cerrito, California

Teachable

Only those that humble themselves could be taught; Apprentice begins after having attended the teacher.

Sincere and obedient one gradually masters the role. Yet the current trend is like ordering courses in cafe.

Comment:

Sincere and simple-minded way to learn begins with staying in close contact and attending to the teacher's needs. Through constant attendance and resulting familiarity one naturally absorbs bits and drips of advice in daily life, and after long years of such accumulation a complete and genuine transmission takes shape. Nowadays people run around to many places, get only superficial contacts, and come and go at their own satisfaction. In some cases people even could not realize their own lack of qualification but thrust themselves forward with claims of tutorship. Cheating others has no way to last, while karmic consequences are rather difficult to repair even through repentance. Sad indeed for such practices!

Written in Chinese on March 11, 2003 Translated on March 14, 2003 El Cerrito, California

Voluntary Refuge

Where to place one's refuge is voluntary; Protector of liberation never coerces any. Compassionate concern spreads over all; Takes lots of wisdom and merit to follow.

Comments:

The awakening path to liberation does not request people to have faith or follow, and will never resort to any compelling means. Compassion is universally equal to all sentient beings, and hence none that approaches voluntarily would be turned down. As to the choice of where to go and whom to follow, it all depends on each one's meritorious connections and degree of maturity of wisdom. It is not an easy matter to accumulate merits and cultivate wisdom; people who are dedicated to the should exert efforts right path such on developments.

Written in Chinese and translated on June 1, 2003 El Cerrito, California

Realizing Guru's Grace

Guru entered Nirvana but has never ceased teaching; His absence in the flesh rendered real intentions seen. While strenuously upholding heavy load of salvation Real appreciation of the grace of lineage arose in me.

Comment:

Guru had entered Nirvana, but his teaching did not stop with it. Whenever important juncture arose he would appear to me to give instructions. Once Guru's fleshy body disappeared, people around him started to reveal their true behaviors. Had Guru still remained in the flesh there would be no way to find out such real intentions. Therefore, entering Nirvana is also a skillful way for the Guru to continue his teachings. While endeavoring to sustain the lamp for the path I realized the and difficulties circumstances that encountered, and thereby truly appreciated the grace of the Guru.

Written in Chinese on December 6, 2003 Translated on December 10, 2003 El Cerrito, California

Refuge in Guru

Following orders faithfully is the tantric way to take refuge in Guru.

Relying on someone to such extent could hardly be taken seriously.

Long since one had realized Guru's attainments through inspirations,

Only then knew one to abide by teachings sincerely and accurately.

Comments:

Vajrayana emphasizes taking refuge in Guru. Often it is strongly recommended that a disciple should follow Guru's orders in all matters. For ordinary people who are new to this kind of teachings, most of them would think that it is

hardly feasible to rely on someone to such an extent. In real life only very few could take this kind of thorough refuge in Guru. Those who had actually taken such refuge in their Gurus all had had sufficient inspirational experiences to realize that their Gurus were indeed representatives of Buddhas and Bodhisattvas.

Written in Chinese and translated on April 28, 2004

The 10th of the Lunar month, date to make offerings to Gurus El Cerrito, California

Always Complying

One deviant thought delayed advancement on the path for over a decade.

In the past I could not understand this, but now I fully comprehend it.

How could disciples' minds be thoroughly pure that they would always

Comply with Guru's commands and thereby

receive the real transmission?

Comment:

When I began to learn Vajrayana I studied some patriarchs' biographies. It was recorded that some disciple, due to one disrespectful and faithless thought, wasted more than a decade in his efforts on the path. At that time I thought to myself, how could the consequences be so devastating? Now that I have seen all sorts of people in their efforts on the path to enlightenment for over two decades, I realize that matters in the world are often like this—one deviant thought would yield distance of thousand miles apart with the turns of events.

May all sincere practitioners of Vajrayana be able to grasp not personal views and thereby become free from self-set limits, insist not personal opinions and thereby become free from devious digressions, and respect and have faith in the Guru completely so that they will always comply with the Guru's commands and thereby become able to receive complete transmission of blessings and guidance, and consequently make rapid advancement on the path to Enlightenment!

Written in Chinese on October 29, 2006 Translated on November 17, 2006 El Cerrito, California

Switching Master and Attendant

Self-centered outlook and ways are indeed difficult to change;

Offerings of incense and lamps become practice of diligent service.

Attending the Guru with devotion and care like a faithful servant,

Only after many years of such training could the efforts be effectual.

Comment:

Our self-centered outlook, habits and way of life are not easy to be aware of and very difficult to break through. To become enlightened, one needs to evolve from and transcend the self-imposed framework. Therefore, one begins with the daily offering of incense, lamps, water, flowers, etc., to learn and practice diligent service to Buddha as the master. As to full-time practitioners, if they can attend a Guru as servants would, then all the chores in daily life become occasions to test one on whether to follow one's inclinations or to obey the Guru's wishes. A devoted practitioner would make good use of such real-life trials so that the cocoon of one's grasping would be unwound thread by thread. After long years of such practice one may gradually attain original purity.

As to what kind of Guru may be followed in such a fashion, one should base on Bodhicitta to observe and choose. Practitioners should understand clearly that the Guru-disciple relationship is not a worldly association, but is solely based on a common identification with the Bodhicitta.

Written in Chinese: February 22, 1999

Translated: September 12, 1999

El Cerrito, California

Reverently Following Guru's Instructions

In case Guru's replies to the same question vary from time to time, follow the latest instruction.

Once I asked Guru Chen about how to arrange the praises to protectors for the recitation on lunar 29th. He said to put the praise to the assembly of all protectors at the very beginning. Years later, when we were about to print the book of praises for monthly offerings, I asked Guru Chen the same question again, and then he said to put that praise after praises to Wen Du Jia Po, Five Longevity Dakinis, and Dan Jin Duo Ji Le Ba, and I followed the latter instruction accordingly.

In case Guru's instruction is not the regular one, one still follows it.

I asked Guru Chen to transmit the mantra of Hui Ji Vajra to me, and he granted the transmission. After Guru Chen entered Nirvana, one day while reciting the mantra I suddenly realized that what he transmitted to me was the heart mantra of Zhun Ti Bodhisattva. But I continued to recite it as the mantra of Hui Ji Vajra. Then, over a decade later, I received the mantra of Hui Ji Vajra in a dream. And the one I thus received is still different from

the one commonly transmitted in Tantra texts.

Guru's instructions are born of original purity, and hence transcend problems of right or wrong. Disciples who follow accordingly will receive the blessing of genuine transmission, and furthermore, will gain strength in reducing self-grasping and self-pride and thereby will advance on approaching the realization of original purity.

As to those who serve as Gurus, in case they learn of unintentional mistakes, they should immediately rectify the mistakes.

During the pilgrimage in China not long ago I transmitted the mudra of Zhun Ti Bodhisattva twice. Once I erroneously showed it as fingers crossing outward. When question was raised as to which one is to follow, I immediately instructed the disciple not to pass on the mistaken photos. While reciting the Chinese version of the Averting All Hindrances Mantra, I pronounced two words erroneously. When it was pointed out by a disciple, I immediately made the correction known to disciples.

Above are some problems that Tantric practitioners may encounter, so I brought them

forth to help future students of Tantra know what to do in such cases.

Written in Chinese and translated on October 25, 2007 El Cerrito, California

The Nine Attitudes of Devotion to Guru

A traditional teaching in Vajrayana

Translated from Chinese into English By Dr. Yutang Lin

My compassionate Root Guru, most outstanding, even superior to all Buddhas! This disciple is supplicating to You; please bless me so that in all my lives I will take refuge with great reverence in Your Meritorious Holiness!

Fully understanding that abiding, in accordance with the Dharma, under the patronage of my compassionate Guru who is the root of all merits is

the foundation of pure happiness, this disciple takes refuge in You with sincere reverence, and will not withdraw even at the cost of my life!

Contemplating over the importance of my meritorious Guru so as to yield complete control of myself over to my Guru's guidance.

The nine attitudes of devotion to the Guru:

- 1. That of a filial child. Like a filial child, one thoroughly carries out the instructions of the Guru without the slightest deviation.
- 2. That of a Vajra. Like a Vajra that cannot be split apart, even when facing division created by devils or bad associates, one will never split away from the Guru.
- 3. That of the Earth. Like the Earth carrying everything in the world, one shoulders all assignments ordered by the Guru.
- 4. That of the Iron Circle of Mountains. Like everlasting mountains, while abiding under the patronage of the Guru one endures hardships and sufferings without ever swaying in one's determination.
- 5. That of a servant. Like an obedient servant, even when one is obliged to carry out very difficult assignments one holds no grudges in one's heart.

- 6. That of a sweeper. Like a humble sweeper, one renounces self-pride and regards oneself as inferior to the Guru.
- 7. That of a rope. Like a continuous rope, one rejoices in carrying on the Dharma activities of the Guru, regardless of its degree of difficulty and heaviness of load.
- 8. That of a domestic dog. Like a loyal dog, even when the Guru ridicules, irritates or ignores one, one never responds with anger.
- 9. That of a boat. Like a ferry one goes back and forth on the Guru's assignments without any discontent.

My virtuous and precious Root Guru, please bless this disciple to be able to practice as described above! From this moment onward, throughout endless future lives, may this disciple be able to take refuge in Your Holiness in this way!

Through recitation of these words and inner reflection over their meanings, in all future times one will be fortunate enough to abide, in accordance with the Dharma, under the patronage of the precious Guru from life to life.

If one can, based on these nine attitudes, serve,

venerate and make offerings to the precious Guru, then even without deliberate cultivation many virtuous merits will be developed, huge amounts of spiritual stocks will be accumulated, and even up to one's speedy attainment of perfect Buddhahood will be realized.

March 6, 2006 El Cerrito, California

Taking Refuge in Bodhicitta

A Talk Given in Mandarin by Dr. Yutang Lin on July 16, 2004 at Zhongding Bodhi Club, Taipei, Taiwan

Tape Recorded and Transcribed by L. Wang and Pao-Yuan Chen, Revised by Dr. Lin

Based on the above Chinese Transcript, Translated into English by Pao-Yuan Chen and Revised by Dr. Lin

President of the Club, Mr. Wu:

Dr. Lin, dear colleagues, ladies and gentlemen, we're very happy to be able to invite Dr. Yutang Lin to come and give us a speech on "Taking Refuge in Bodhicitta." Dr. Lin has been here more than once before. In spite of the fact that there were not too many participants previously, Dr. Lin is so kind as not to have forsaken us but to continue to compassionately elucidate Dharma for us. Now let's welcome Dr. Lin.

Dr. Lin:

The topic today is "Taking Refuge in Bodhicitta."

Before we move on, let's talk about some basic ideas, which will make the following parts easier to unfold.

First, let's talk about practicing Buddhism. What are we practicing when we practice Buddhism? The goal of practicing Buddhism is to reach Buddhahood, to reach the ultimate enlightenment. Simply put, to reach Buddhahood is to return to the original state of purity, which is primordial. If it weren't original but obtained through efforts, sooner of later it will be lost

without enough efforts or the right conditions. This time you may win the championship, but next time it could belong to someone else. Thus anything in the world that is obtained through efforts isn't ultimately secured. The original state was originally without problems. And the Original Purity is not the kind of purity that we usually talk about in defining cleanliness and dirtiness or likes and dislikes. How things in the world are, are often judged by individual people's standards, which aren't absolute standards but are dependent on causal conditions. The reason is that the worldly standards are often formed artificially and vary according to different environments, geographical regions and cultures. The Original Purity we talk about here is not formed by differentiation. The original state of things clean or dirty has no artificial discrimination. Even though colors are nevertheless, before we distinctions they are blended together in oneness that is indivisible. Take the traffic lights as an example. The red lights and the green lights don't distinguish themselves; it's only when they're functioning that they start to differ. So they are not differentiable in themselves but are pure originally, which is the state before the arising of the dual distinction of subject and object. Such purity

resembles the love of a mother to her child. She loves her child so much that she simply cleans up the child's diapers whenever necessary without discrimination. Such an indiscriminate mind would consider the child's excretion as clean. Therefore, if there isn't discrimination originally, then everything is in oneness.

In Buddhism there's a teaching on "non-self." When we make distinctions, there are individual objects. However, just like the ocean or river, everything is in fact mixed, and one person is like one drop of water, one grain of sand, or one pebble in it. A drip or grain of sand seems differentiable from the ocean or river; nevertheless, before it was distinguished the whole ocean or river was a unified totality. The truth is that all were originally in oneness, until we started to make artificial distinctions. For another example, if one place on Earth suffers from some leak of poisonous gas, the people living nearby will surely be victimized. Those that live afar may not feel any impact. Nevertheless, to the Earth as a whole, everyone shares any tiny leak of poisonous gas. Therefore, all are shaped by causal conditions, and are constantly evolving. When we are able to make conscious distinctions, the distinctions

When we become too old or too ill, we won't even have the energy to grasp to such distinctions. Thus all sentient beings and non-sentient objects are originally, as a matter of fact, in Limitless Oneness. Any discrimination is temporary and artificial. If we observe things from atomic or even subatomic particles' point of view, the discriminations shaped by our senses don't even exist. Hence we could understand that the discriminations we normally make are biased in the light of scientific microscopic or macroscopic views.

We often make distinctions in our worldly lives. For example, this is lawful right, obligation, or responsibility. Thus, all sorts of problems would become unsolvable, and people all suffer much. When we are healthy we may have the energy to make differentiation and to fight over it, but when we encounter sufferings like those due to traffic accidents, senility, and illness, the problems would become even more insoluble. So, when seen through, life is suffering with lots of afflictions. We could rarely smile from the bottom of our hearts.

After Sakyamuni saw the sufferings of old age, illness, and death, he gave up his power and

role as a prince, reflected upon how human beings could pass their lives peacefully and overcome the sufferings of old age, illness and death, and he finally reached Buddhahood. At first, he learned from the immortals then in India, and reached attainments in the Realm of Form and the Realm of No-form. Still he found that there were problems and it was not the ultimate solution. It would be very hard for ordinary people to even reach these levels. Therefore, at his level, it was not just a breakthrough in concepts. Nowadays the numerous establishments in the society incapable of providing thorough help. For example, if there were a flood, people would donate money to help. But that would not prevent some other natural disaster from coming. Even though the homeland had been rebuilt, but the trauma in people's minds would not be healed at once. Others could not help the victims unless they can open up their minds themselves. Sakyamuni Buddha was capable of breaking through any spiritual attachment, released subtle even attachment to fine attainments of Dhyana, and returned to Original Purity. Limitless Oneness transcends spatial and temporal limitations. When one reaches the state of Limitless Oneness, naturally there will be power that reaches to those

that are in need of help. Things as such may sound like fairy tales. But if you practice in accordance with Dharma, you will have experiences that come near to the transcendence of Limitless Oneness over spatial and temporal limitations. engaging in Dharma practices for many years, sometimes one would know about events in one's previous lives or foresee future events. These are examples of transcending temporal limitations. For example, when I prayed on behalf of others, even though they were overseas they would feel power coming or see situations changed. These are examples of transcending spatial limitations. These are real and can be experienced, and constitute what keeps me going on my life-long Buddhist practice.

With the above understanding, we are now ready to expound on "Taking Refuge in Bodhicitta." What does it mean by "taking refuge"? Once "taking refuge" is being considered on the path of Buddhist practice, we're no longer talking about the beginning phase. Taking refuge seems to be the first step, but in real life who would suddenly believe in anyone? When we were little, our parents might have led us to take refuge in a Dharma teacher, but later when we grew up, our

thoughts might have changed. So that need not be a case of taking refuge in earnest. The real one comes when we ourselves sincerely want to return to the state of Original Purity and to look for a permanent and reliable settlement. We can't achieve this by relying on our usual worldly approaches, so we need to look for something stable and secure. Hence, to have reached this step, one had more or less known some Dharma, had learned what Buddha taught us, had realized what's truly beneficial to us, and thus wanted to take refuge, and would not run away afterwards. This no longer belongs to the theoretical part of Dharma, but has exceeded the levels of "knowing" and "thinking" to reach the level of "practice." Only when one has reached the "practice" stage will there be genuine taking of refuge in the Dharma.

What then are we taking refuge in? We are taking refuge in the Original Purity. Nevertheless, this would be too far-fetched to ordinary people's experiences. Where would the "original" be? If it were originally there, then we need not do anything because it was originally there already, and we have never left it. Therefore, theoretically speaking, we need to take refuge in the Triple Gem.

We take refuge in the Buddha because Buddha was a person with the experience of right awakening, and had realized Limitless Oneness. Even though physically he had entered Nirvana, but in reality even now he can still help us and communicate with us. However, ordinary people would not know how to contact sentient beings that had attained enlightenment, nor could they recognize such beings. Therefore, we need to depend on reliable teachings that came down to us. Although there are lots of Sutras, they basically about impermanence, non-self, and Bodhicitta. Correct teachings of this kind are what we ought to follow. Thus, when we can't find the Buddha, we simply follow these teachings. As to taking refuge in the Sangha, some people with experiences in Dharma practices would know how to practice would be in accordance with the Dharma or not. Such people are not confined to only monks or nuns, but also include lay Buddhists that have practiced long and obtained experiences of attainment. However, when it is sometimes certain problems understood thus would arise. For example, some would claim to be living Buddhas, while those of us ordinary people would not know how to distinguish the real ones from the fake ones. Furthermore, there are many

schools in Buddhism, and also classifications into Hinayana, Mahayana, and Vajrayana. And there are people who claimed that only certain teachings were authentic, as were originally taught by Sakyamuni. So how are we supposed to discern if the teachings were correct and if a person had real practice experiences? There is one criterion, namely, to decide by the presence or absence of Bodhicitta. If one could attain Limitless Oneness that is originally pure, that would be Bodhicitta. Nonetheless, it's almost impossible for us to reach such high position of fruition right away. Bodhicitta has another meaning, namely, as an aspiration toward this goal—may all beings soon attain Buddhahood; it aims not only at one's own liberation but also takes into equal consideration the liberation of all sentient beings. With such a goal in mind, whenever problems arise we could judge by checking to see if Bodhicitta is present or not. This is because Bodhicitta contains neither selfishness nor predilection; it not only takes our own family members into care, but also embraces all sentient beings in the past, present and future. It is an aspiration that wishes all to achieve ultimate peace and happiness, and thus solve the problems permanently. Within the sphere of our capabilities

we would help them in accordance with the wish—may all beings soon attain Buddhahood so that they would leave sufferings and attain happiness. So whatever we do, in addition to wishing that they would overcome the current hardships, we also pray that through this Dharma connection they would eventually become Buddhas. Therefore, we need to practice diligently in order to help others leave sufferings and attain happiness sooner. Some Buddhists are bothered by the fact that they could not persuade their family members to practice Dharma. If you want to wait till their conversion to start your Dharma practice, chances are you'll never obtain any significant result in practice for the rest of you life. If, however, we treat everybody equally, and can see that people have their own courses and times of maturity in practicing Buddhism, and hence we just try our best to spread and preserve Dharma in the world. Then, even if we died first, they could still have the opportunity to encounter Dharma. Such would be real salvation; otherwise, it would be just ignorance. Salvation activities that are wise would treat all equally; eventually it will reach everyone sooner or later.

So if we use Bodhicitta—may all beings soon attain Buddhahood as the criteria, there would not be deviations and mistakes. Sometimes taking refuge in a Guru could possibly turn into idol worship. Besides, some teachings would say that only certain things are permissible and other things are not. Even though Dharma is harmonious and would give different teachings to suit the propensities of different people; nevertheless, we could sometimes be unaware of our own confinement by concepts. But if we go by Bodhicitta, we will naturally know how to do. Even if sometimes we got cheated, we will have nothing to regret for or to be ashamed of because all we want is for all beings to become Buddhas. Therefore, being cheated or not becomes not an issue. In this way, we don't lose anything, but just approach ever closer to Bodhicitta time after time.

Now let's talk about taking refuge in Guru. In Tantric Buddhism Gurus are placed at the foremost place. We take refuge first of all in Guru, and then we take refuge in Buddha, Dharma, and Sangha. Why is it that Guru is placed first in Tantric Buddhism? The reason is that pure Bodhicitta is sustained in spirituality through

Gurus from generation to generation. Buddhas transcend all spatial and temporal limitations. Some people said they could not find the real place to take refuge in. I advised them to go in front of an image or statue of Sakyamuni Buddha and repeat thrice the Triple Refuge, namely, to repeat: I take refuge in the Buddha; I take refuge in the Dharma; I take refuge in the Sangha. Buddha treats all beings equally; so going to Sakyamuni is like turning to our own parents. We could say to Buddha, "I think what you taught is right, and I am willing to follow your teachings and practice accordingly." Therefore, no one could say, "you can take refuge in Buddha only through me." All such claims are mistaken. Therefore, transcending time and space, it is permissible to take refuge directly in the Buddha. In Tantric Buddhism, the power to grant direct blessings could be transmitted from generation to generation. Since Buddha had entered Nirvana, even though he can still function, nevertheless ordinary people could not sense it. Therefore, the power to grant blessing was transmitted to some great disciple. Hence, if from generation to generation the rules of conducts are well observed and genuine Bodhicitta is sustained, then the blessing power of Dharma can be retained in the world. But if proper procedures

or behaviors are not maintained, then the blessing power of the lineage cannot be preserved continuously, but will be taken back. So lineage is like embers kept continuously in the minds of those carrying on the lineage teachings. Hence, such a Guru amounts to being Buddha, and is indifferentiable from Buddha. What could serve as a Dharma teaching may be decided by him. He is one that had mastered the paths, and can tell you what to do. Even though what he said was not mentioned in any Sutra, he is actually teaching you how to practice Dharma. What are written in the Sutras are principles; as to how to apply those principles in daily life one should follow the direction of the Guru one has faith in. Thus, you will gradually learn such Dharma as Giving, Law-abiding, Tolerance, etc. through the problems you encounter in daily life and through the procedures whereby you overcome the difficulties. So, in Tantric Buddhism, if you do everything according to what Guru says, you will unknowingly realize that you have become different from others. Since you are used to being trained, many egoistic perspectives have been polished away. Therefore, Guru includes Dharma. And since he is an expert in this, Guru of course also includes Sangha. Guru is even more important than Dharma, since he is the one that actually teaches you in person. Whoever feeds you with milk is the real mother. Therefore, in Tantric Buddhism Guru is placed before Buddha, Dharma, and Sangha. As to problems arising from following an incompetent Guru, this issue still needs to be decided by resorting to Bodhicitta. If your Bodhicitta were sincere, it would not become a real problem even if you followed a fake Guru. You may even learn from the experience and develop the ability to differentiate the right from the wrong. Guru is unlike the abstract concepts of Buddha, Dharma, and Sangha. If one truly intends to pursue the practice path in depth, then it is rather advantageous to have a genuine Guru to follow. Ordinary people have limitations at many levels, even if they practice in accordance with Dharma principles, after groping for some time they might have gone astray and yet still could not realize the mistake. This is because they have no way of recognizing their own limitations. But if you have a Guru, you don't need to be well-versed in the Sutras, and yet through Guru's guidance, you will be able to apply Dharma in daily life. Under the guidance of Guru, you will be able to escape from the unnecessary confinement that you used to self-imprison yourself. With only one

indication from Guru, you could move one step outward, and this step could be the blind spot that you would otherwise never notice. So it's very advantageous if one has a Guru to follow.

Now let's look at "The Way to Follow a Guru" on the handouts.

Pao-Yuan Chen looked up twelve poems from over one thousand of my poems in Chinese. Among the twelve, nine are directly related to the way to follow a Guru. You can tell they are arranged more or less chronologically from a few years ago up to now. I wrote only when I had inspirations or when someone asked me some questions. In the past few years, I had actually written ten works in relation to the topic on how to follow a Guru. One of the ten was entitled "Counterfeit," which is more on the negative side, and hence not included here. Two of the twelve poems are of more general ideas and broader spheres, such as we can learn from all in the Dharmadhatu and hence all can be our teachers. Another one is on the hardships we went through, if we can become liberated from within them, then such hardships may also serve as our teachers. These two works are of broader scope, so I didn't include them under this topic.

After we read these poems, we can also see the differences in my view at different times with respect to the same topic.

Let's now read them one by one.

The Way to Follow a Guru

Hard enough to know how to choose a Guru, Not to mention being turned off by a sour one. Be truthful to Bodhicitta and practice solidly, Approach gradually with eyes open, and dedicate oneself to the Dharma!

This poem is about how to stay near and rely on a Guru. Some people may be at first very devoted to some Guru, but later something happened, and they would become very discouraged and disappointed, and suffer deeply from it. If we don't know how to choose, we should simply examine ourselves in the light of Bodhicitta and practice solidly step by step without aspiring toward sudden awakening. If we find a Guru who doesn't covet for anything but knows what to do as matters arise, this is a genuine

virtuous teacher. In this case, it would be better that we follow and practice solidly under this Guru. We shouldn't turn to one Guru when someone says this Guru is good, and then turn to another when someone else says that one is good. If we keep turning around like that, we would be like floating duckweeds without roots to grow up on.

Each poem originally was written with a comment attached, which you could read by yourselves afterwards.

Blessed Ones are Few

Addressing as "Guru" is easy but listening to is hard;

One statement unacceptable would lead to disappearance.

Serving with diligence and learning constantly in attendance,

Only then could be blessed with Grace to turn into a dragon.

Those who had engaged in Buddhist practice would have opportunities to encounter Gurus that they could follow and rely on. However, one could not follow a Guru the way one makes friends

nowadays. Some people might politely address one as "Guru" one day, but later, when he came with much expectation while what the Guru said wasn't what he liked to hear, he would simply disappear. The real way to follow a Guru is to attend diligently and stay near the Guru for long years, and only then can one actually learn something. You can't expect Guru to give you lectures everyday, as what you could learn from lectures are merely theories. When you stay around your Guru, you will see how he deals with problems in daily life, and learn his ways of thinking and of handling matters, you can then actually learn little by little. This is to learn through daily-life experiences. Only after long-term of such practice through imitation will one receive blessings and hopefully become a Dharma instrument capable of saving sentient beings.

Learning through Attendance

Realization of Dharma permeates daily life; Behavior and conversation remain just ordinary. Attending the Guru to learn eventually the subtleties, Refined transformation would emerge unnoticeably.

The meaning of oneness of Dharma and life is that everything in one's daily life has become related to Dharma. There is nothing miraculous in this; just as ordinary people would do, Guru greets people when he encounters people. But if you're with your Guru over long period of time, you will see how he handles matters and how considerate he is to others. Ordinary people fall into different levels with different perspectives, so Guru even need to accommodate them in order to help them. Then you will realize that to save sentient beings is so difficult—you have to self-adjust in order to accommodate sentient beings. Otherwise, before you could reach and help them, they would have run away already. Therefore, if you are with your Guru over long period of time, and learn naturally bit by bit in daily life, you would naturally become a Dharma instrument after long-term nurturing.

Indicating

Only humble attitude could benefit from guidance; Empty the mind in order to contain Dharma nectar. Learned indications revealed at opportune juncture; One poke brings to life the freedom to turn around.

One has to be humble in order to receive any teaching. It takes an empty mind in order to thoughtfully and carefully attend Guru and follow every bit of teaching from Guru at all times. During this period worldly matters have to be put aside. Whenever some matter arises, Guru's way of dealing with it differs from one's own thinking, then one might realize that Guru was thinking like that and hence handling like that. This is as if when you encountered a rock on the road, you don't really need to touch or move it. Instead, all you need to do is to go around it. An indication like this from Guru turns your thinking around and shows the flexibility and liveliness of Dharma. So if you learn to deal with things differently, you could gradually learn the way to attain liberation.

Guru as Buddha

Regarding Guru as no different from Buddha, In original oneness all distinctions fade away. Mind without grasping accepts things as such, Spreading Dharma to help all without waning.

In Tantric Buddhism, it is taught that one should regard one's Guru as no different from Buddha. To realize Sunyata Guru is to help you

return to the Limitless Oneness. Guru is one who whole-heartedly devoted to Buddhist practices and services of sentient beings. If you cannot regard such a Guru as no different from Buddha, you will never be able to find someone qualified enough for you to practice being in oneness with others. Guru is there for you to practice non-discrimination. There are no attachments in Guru's mind; all fixations are cast off. This makes Guru very close to Buddha. Furthermore, Guru always propagates Dharma to benefit and help sentient beings. Thus he is no different and inseparable from Buddha. Only if you could cease making differentiations, could the blessings from Guru be received by you. If you cannot sense the blessings, it is due to your own graspings. For example, some people are attached to the literal expressions of Dharma, and have too many personal interpretations with regard to actual practices, nonetheless, a real Guru would not argue with those people. He will definitely say "That's OK"; otherwise, he would be the same as people. However, when those you are self-confined, you lose opportunities to learn from Guru. Thus, if you just listen to Guru instead of worrying too much about theories, then you can learn the real stuff.

Teachable

Only those that humble themselves could be taught; Apprentice begins after having attended the teacher. Sincere and obedient one gradually masters the role. Yet the current trend is like ordering courses in cafe.

To be close to Guru somewhat resembles the case of Zhang Liang who learned military strategies only after having helped tie the old master's shoes three times. Same rules apply to learning worldly knowledge. If you want to become a barber, you'd have to clean up for your master for 3 years first. Then you'll start the learning from shaving winter melon. Since you had attended the master for a long time, your attitude gradually became humble, and thus you will be able to learn from scratch. Nowadays, people learn Dharma as if it takes only a prostration, an initiation, and then they're gone, just as they leave the restaurant right after the meal. You cannot attend Guru closely in this way, and cannot really learn anything well.

Voluntary Refuge

Where to place one's refuge is voluntary;

Protector of liberation never coerces any. Compassionate concern spreads over all; Takes lots of wisdom and merit to follow.

Taking refuge in a Guru is a voluntary matter. Guru, as guardian master of emancipation, does not expect anything. Guru is always helping sentient beings that come in contact with him. Those in need of help will gain benefits through his blessings. It takes accumulation of enough stock of merits and wisdom for a practitioner to encounter a genuine Guru.

Realizing Guru's Grace

Guru entered Nirvana but has never ceased teaching; His absence in the flesh rendered real intentions seen. While strenuously upholding heavy load of salvation Real appreciation of the grace of lineage arose in me.

This poem is about receiving indications in dreams on how to handle matters from Guru Chen even though he had entered Nirvana. Although his physical body is no longer present, he has never stopped his teaching. For example, the fire puja ritual that I composed recently originated from some inspiration received in a dream; I did it only

because Buddha instructed me to do so. Only thus will the ritual be truly helpful to people; it will not work simply because I think it will work. In a dream Guru Chen told me, "the third article in Zan Song Ji." (That is the collection of praises composed by him.) Then he showed me rectangular framed picture with some leaves in it that were left blank. He told me to color them red. Upon waking up I rushed to check the third article in that book. It is a praise of the Great Compassionate Guan Yin. To paint the picture into red means to compose a Red Chenrezig ritual based on the pattern of his fire puja rituals. Thus twelve years after Guru Chen's Nirvana and only with his permission did I compose the ritual. Besides, I have composed only two fire puja rituals. The Manjusri ritual was composed only upon someone's request and after having received some inspirations. The Earth Treasure Bodhisattva ritual was requested, but I have not done it yet so far I have not received inspirational permission. A few days before I performed the fire puja to Guan Yin for the very first time, I dreamed of White Garment Guan Yin and her attendant lady. I wanted to make prostration, but they said no need. I did anyway. They both laughed. So I stopped. Guan Yin raised

her right hand and wrote some mantra in the air. Immediately I felt some power came to me and filled up the whole body. Previously, Guru Chen's rituals were designed for one type of activity each. But nowadays there are more people asking for help through fire pujas, so I hoped to combine the three activities of pacifying, increasing, inducing in one ritual. Guan Yin knew that this would require great spiritual strength, so she granted me the blessings. With such blessings, I was then capable of performing the first Guan Yin fire puja to yield intended results. Therefore, although Guru Chen left his physical body, he is still incessantly helping and saving sentient beings beyond boundaries of time and space. For example, although some people had never met Guru Chen, and yet they could still dream of him and receive teachings from him. Besides, people acted one way when Guru Chen was alive. Once he left us, most people showed different thoughts. If he were still with us, I wouldn't have comprehended this. Thus we have to diligently continue Guru's Dharma services in order to realize Guru's grace of not abandoning us. Now when I am sustaining the Dharma activities, Buddhas, Bodhisattvas and Protectors would gather to help and change situations. So when matters arise, if we uphold

Bodhicitta, they would evolve themselves, and we don't need to worry.

Refuge in Guru

Following orders faithfully is the tantric way to take refuge in Guru.

Relying on someone to such extent could hardly be taken seriously.

Long since one had realized Guru's attainments through inspirations,

Only then knew one to abide by teachings sincerely and accurately.

In Trantric Buddhism it is taught that Guru's orders have to be followed. However, it is very difficult to rely on a Guru to that extent and taking it seriously. In the biographies of ancient sages, some disciple would jump when the Guru said so. This would seem insane to ordinary people. But the disciple was willing to do so because at his level he was capable of realizing that his Guru is genuinely no different from Buddha. With such faith in Guru, the disciple was then able to receive Dharma transmission from the Guru, and was therefore willing to follow all orders from the Guru. So when you follow a Guru, you should be

able to comprehend that your Guru is genuine Buddha and is the representative of Buddhas and Bodhisattvas. Many of those who can follow a Guru like this have had real inspirational experiences, which led them to realize the kindness, compassion and wisdom of Guru, and thus enable them to follow his teachings and guidance.

May all have ever-increasing Dharma opportunities and hence become attendants of virtuous Gurus!

Revision of translation completed on Christmas Eve of 2004 El Cerrito, California

After Having Taken Refuge

So as not to become a hindrance to others' attaining salvation
I have greatly opened the door of skillful means
To let people seeking refuge, be it old

acquaintances or total strangers

To have the same opportunity to become united with our pure lineage

Of the unsurpassable Buddhist Tantra

After having entered the gate
Distant from perfect enlightenment
There is still a very long path of Dharma practices
That need to be traversed personally by each and
every Dharma offspring

Guru's lifelong teachings in words and through examples

Can only bless you

To recognize clearly the right direction, and to step onto the right paths

As to how many steps you will take, and how fast you will advance

Those are all up to your own endeavors

Guru is propagating the Dharma equally to all sentient beings

Impossible for him to guide each one individually all the time

If you are diligent in practices, and have encountered problems

Then you need to raise questions for guidance

Best would be to stay around the Guru constantly
To attend and to follow suit
And thereby gradually comprehended Dharma
practices in daily life
Single-mindedly devoted oneself in such a manner
Only then will it become easier for one to mature
sooner

Written in Chinese and translated on July 26, 2009 El Cerrito, California

My Bodhicitta Vows

(May be Used for Dedication of Merits)

Dr. Yutang Lin

- 1. May virtuous gurus remain with us and those departed return soon!
- 2. May perverse views and violence soon become extinct, and Dharma spread without hindrance!
- 3. May all beings proceed diligently on the path toward Buddhahood and achieve the goal before death!
- 4. May the Great Compassion flourish in all beings and never regress until they reach perfect Buddhahood!
- 5. May the Great Wisdom thrive in all beings and never regress until they reach perfect Buddhahood!

NOT FOR SALE

For your free copy Please write to: info@yogichen.org

Dr. Yutang Lin 705 Midcrest Way El Cerrito, CA 94530-3310 U.S.A.

Buddhist Yogi C. M. Chen's Homepage www.yogichen.org

Buddhist Yogi Dr. Yutang Lin's Homepage www.yogilin.net

First Edition, 2009 2,000 copies Printed in Taiwan